






Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2014/15Balances through March

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 154,765.00 157,488.00 46,297.44 108,668.32 2,522.24 Teachers Salaries

1120 5,152.00 400.00 1,630.00 1,230.00-Certificated Substitutes

1200 63,202.00 63,099.00 18,837.33 43,973.77 287.90 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 105,804.00 106,151.00 26,451.06 79,353.18 346.76 Certificated Supervisor Admini

Total for Object 1000 328,923.00 327,138.00 91,585.83 233,625.27 1,926.90 

2100 98,489.00 65,387.00 23,675.83 48,361.04 6,649.87-Instructional Aides' Salaries

2200 5,478.00 9,589.00 2,876.79 6,888.82 176.61-Classified Support Salaries

2300 96,742.00 97,359.00 23,959.80 72,149.40 1,249.80 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 123,875.00 125,015.00 31,621.33 92,409.69 983.98 Clerical Technical Office Staf

2900 6,912.00 5,386.00 5,195.25 190.75 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 331,496.00 302,736.00 82,133.75 225,004.20 4,401.95-

3101 31,145.00 29,049.00 8,132.82 20,623.18 293.00 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 368.00 344.00 103.20 240.80 .00 STRS Classified Positions

3201 84.75 84.75-PERS Certificated Positions

3202 49,655.00 48,876.00 12,585.93 36,432.21 142.14-PERS Classified Positions

3301 76.26 76.26-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 19,518.00 17,732.00 4,805.90 13,205.11 279.01-OASDI Classified Positions

3311 4,990.00 4,582.00 1,283.67 3,268.01 30.32 Medicare Certificated Position

3312 4,622.00 4,206.00 1,140.80 3,131.54 66.34-Medicare Classified Positions

3401 84,284.00 84,284.00 23,035.86 56,403.10 4,845.04 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 82,198.00 80,662.00 20,243.61 57,936.64 2,481.75 Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 178.00 165.00 45.81 116.89 2.30 SUI Certificated

3502 163.00 152.00 41.03 109.68 1.29 SUI Classified

3601 11,419.00 10,594.00 2,968.02 7,556.14 69.84 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 10,595.00 9,723.00 2,637.63 7,240.20 154.83-Workers' Compensation Classifi

3901 26,768.00 26,768.00 26,768.00 Golden Handshake

Total for Object 3000 325,903.00 317,137.00 77,024.28 206,424.51 33,688.21 

4200 3,620.00 3,619.11 .89 Library and Reference Material

4300 17,590.00 13,898.00 3,904.33 19,643.83 9,650.16-Materials and Supplies

4320 1,300.00 1,300.00 424.93 875.07 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 2,000.00 1,000.00 536.58 463.42 Office Supplies

4350 6,500.00 5,500.00 1,312.02 1,146.79 3,041.19 Vehicle Upkeep

4400 7,198.00 16,115.00 4,643.06 15,107.13 3,635.19-Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 34,588.00 41,433.00 9,859.41 40,478.37 8,904.78-

5100 35,724.00 43,492.00 11,944.48 19,845.37 11,702.15 Subagreements for Services

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2015, Period = 9, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Apr  1 2015  1:28PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3901
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2014/15Balances through March

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

5200 16,342.00 21,061.00 3,866.84 13,893.97 3,300.19 Travel and Conference

5300 17,970.00 15,870.00 10,241.00 5,629.00 Dues and Membership

5400 10,450.00 9,300.00 9,218.00 82.00 Insurance

5500 9,200.00 9,200.00 898.78 5,318.01 2,983.21 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 2,600.00 2,600.00 195.82 398.83 2,005.35 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5710 .00 Tfr of Direct Cost

5800 8,400.00 8,400.00 2,800.00 5,600.00 .00 Professional Consulting

5801 32,500.00 37,500.00 1,000.00 315.00 36,185.00 Legal Services

5803 500.00 500.00 200.00 15.00 285.00 Legal Publications

5805 593.00 593.00 270.00 323.00 Personnel Expense

5806 2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Negotiations

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 567.87 831.27 100.86 Other Services & Fees

5810 293,628.00 412,705.00 91,099.43 215,757.73 105,847.84 Contracted Services

5899 2,318.66 266.12 2,584.78-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 2,100.00 1,600.00 725.86 874.14 Communications

Total for Object 5000 433,507.00 565,321.00 115,161.88 282,426.16 167,732.96 

6200 30,032.00 30,032.00 30,032.00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 6,300.00 13,100.00 13,089.11 10.89 Equipment

Total for Object 6000 36,332.00 43,132.00 .00 13,089.11 30,042.89 

7110 43,902.44- 43,902.44 County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 53,825.00 15,423.59 38,401.41 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7281 150,000.00 150,000.00 .00 All Other Transfers to Distric

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 .00 203,825.00 .00 121,521.15 82,303.85 

302,388.08 1,490,749.00 1,800,722.00 375,765.15 1,122,568.77 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7211 340,100.00 75,705.00 75,704.57 .43 Transfers of Pass-through Rev

7619 60,017.00 13,360.00 13,359.64 .36 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

.79 400,117.00 89,065.00 .00 89,064.21 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

302,388.87 1,890,866.00 1,889,787.00 375,765.15 1,211,632.98 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2015, Period = 9, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Apr  1 2015  1:28PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5710
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5800
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5803
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5806
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7281
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7211
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=75268&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619


SCOE  
 Minutes 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEEETING OF THE  

SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MARCH 10, 2015 

Downieville School, Downieville, California 

4 pm for Closed Session 

 

A.  CALL TO ORDER 

 

 President TIM DRISCOLL called the meeting to order at 4:06 pm. 

 

B.  ROLL CALL 

 

 PRESENT:  Mr.  Tim Driscoll, President 

    Ms. Sharon Dryden, Vice President  

     Mr.  Allen Wright, Clerk 

    Ms. Patty Hall, Member 

     Mr.  Mike Moore, Member 

 

 ABSENT:      None     

 

 VACANT:    None 

     

C. FLAG SALUTE 

 

D. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA   

 DRYDEN/HALL 

5/0  

 

E. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

 

 At this time, the meeting opened for any public comments regarding the Closed Session items. 

 

F. CLOSED SESSION  

 

 The Board of Trustees, Superintendent Dr. Merrill M. Grant and Business Manager Rose 

Asquith moved into Closed Session to discuss the following items: 

 

1. Government Code § Government Code §54957.6, Conference with Labor Negotiators  

 Agency Negotiator for the Board:  Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 

 Employee Organizations:   

 Represented Employees: Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

 Unrepresented Employees:  Classified Employees 

      Confidential Employees 

      Classified Management Employees 

      Administration Employees 

 

G. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION 

 

  ADJOURN FOR BREAK at 5:55 pm. 



Sierra County Board of Education  
Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 10, 2015 

 

SCOE 

Minutes 

2 
 

 

6 pm – RECONVENE 

 

H. FLAG SALUTE  

 

  REPORT OUT- Discussed negotiations regarding all groups, gave direction to 

superintendent and negotiation committee. 

 

I. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

  

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Community Forums 

 Downieville School  Monday, March 16, 2015, 6:30 pm 

 Loyalton High  Tuesday, March 17, 2015, 6:30 pm 

 Loyalton Elementary Wednesday, March 18, 2015, 6:30 pm 

Demographic and program data will be presented, input from the 

audience will be sought. 

b. Secure Rural Schools Report 

The County received $13,000 in Secure Rural Schools funding and the 

District received $75,000. 

c. Downieville Garden – school and community members will create a garden 

behind the gym with raised beds.  

d. Small County Superintendents Meeting with Tom Torlakson – Thirteen small 

county superintendents met with the State Superintendent of Public 

Instruction and discussed the 2015-16 budget.  

e. Dr. Grant is attending the Sierra County Dept. Head Meetings.  

 

2. Business Report 

a. There were no questions on the Board Report-Expenditures by Object 

07/01/14 to 2/28/15 

b. Letter of Positive Certification of Financial Solvency from California 

Department of Education 

 

3. Staff Reports (5 minutes) - none 

  

4. SPTA Report (5 minutes) 

 Janet McHenry, Loyalton High School teacher, secretary of SPTA and member of 

the negotiating team spoke to the board regarding the district striving to become 

more salary competitive. 

 

5. Board Members’ Report (5 minutes) 

 DRYDEN – Nevada passed a bill that exempts school construction projects from 

their state prevailing wage law.  She suggested a recommendation to 

Superintendent Torlakson for a similar bill.  

 



Sierra County Board of Education  
Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 10, 2015 

 

SCOE 

Minutes 

3 
 

6. Public Comment – This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly 

address the governing board on any item of interest that is within the subject 

matter jurisdiction of the governing board whether or not it is listed on the agenda.  

Five minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty minutes to 

each subject matter.  (Education Code 35145.5; Bylaw 9322; Government Code 

54954.3) 

 

a. Current location:  Mrs. Lynn Fillo, Downieville Jr./Sr. High School teacher, spoke 

to a lack of longevity increase in 21 years. 

 

b. Videoconference location – Mr. Patrick Doyle,  referenced the following 

Education Codes:  41372, 41371, 41370, 41373, 41011 

 Mr. Doyle asked that the County board request in writing a copy of any 

exemptions for this year or any prior years of any deficits to teacher salaries. 

 

J. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

1. Approval of minutes of the Regular Board meeting held February 10, 2015 

2. Approval of bill warrants for month of February 2015 

  MOORE/DRYDEN 

  5/0 

 

K. ACTION ITEMS 

 

 1.  Unfinished Business and General Orders 

 

1415-068 Second Reading and Approval of the 2015-16 School Calendar (Draft 4)  

 MOORE/WRIGHT  

 5/0 

 

2. New Business 

 

1415-069 Presentation and Public Hearing of the Sierra-Plumas Classified Employees’ 

Associations’ 2014-2015 Completion of Bargaining was held at 6:23 pm.  

There was no comment. President DRISCOLL read the Completion of 

Bargaining.  The public was given another opportunity for comment. There 

was no comment from Downieville or Loyalton site. At 6:28 pm the hearing 

closed. 

  

1415-070 Approval of Completion of Bargaining, Sierra-Plumas Classified Employees’ 

Association for 2014-2015 school year 

 DRYDEN/HALL 

 5/0 

 

http://www.gamutonline.net/displayPolicy/131393/9
http://www.gamutonline.net/displayPolicy/145075/9


Sierra County Board of Education  
Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 10, 2015 

 

SCOE 

Minutes 

4 
 

1415-071 2015-16 Employer Response to Sierra-Plumas Certificated Employees 

Proposal 

 President DRISCOLL read the Employer Response. 

 

1415-072 2015-16 Employer Response to Classified Employees Initial Proposal 

 President DRISCOLL read the Employer Response and openers. 

 

1415-073 2015-16 Employer Response to Confidential Employees Initial Proposal 

 President DRISCOLL read the Employer Response. 

 

1415-074 2015-16 Employer Response to Classified Management Employees Initial 

Proposal 

 President DRISCOLL read the Employer Response. 

 

1415-075 2015-16 Employer Response to Administration Initial Proposal 

 President DRISCOLL read the Employer Response. 

 

1415-076 Approval of Appointment of J.Lon Cooper, Sierra County Public Defender, as 

Member of the Student Attendance Review Board  

 MOORE/HALL 

 5/0 

 

1415-077 Adopt 2014-2015 Second Interim Actuals as of January 31, 2015  

 MOORE/WRIGHT 

 QUESTIONS:  PAGE 24 OF 24, Declining ADA and Uncapped benefits  

 5/0 

 

 BOARD POLICIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS  
 MOORE motioned to approve Items 1415-078 through 086.  HALL seconded. 

 

1415-078 Approval of Administrative Regulation 4112.4, 4212.4, 4312.4, Health 

Examination, revision 

 

1415-079 Approval of Administrative Regulation (revised) and Exhibit (new) 4112.5, 

4212.5, 4312.5, Criminal Record Check 

 

1415-080 Approval to DELETE Administrative Regulation and Exhibit 4112.62, 

4212.62, 4312.62, Maintenance of Criminal Offender Records 

 

1415-081 Approval to DELETE Administrative Regulation  4117.4, Dismissal 

 

1415-082 Approval of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 4118, 

Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action, revision 

 



Sierra County Board of Education  
Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 10, 2015 

 

SCOE 

Minutes 

5 
 

1415-083 Approval of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 5125, Student 

Records, revision 

 

1415-084 Approval of Administrative Regulation 5141, Health Care and Emergencies 

 

1415-085 Approval of Administrative Regulation 5141.21, Administering Medication 

and Monitoring Health Conditions, revision 

 

DRYDEN motioned to table Items 1415-086 and 087 for further clarification.  

HALL seconded. 

 

1415-086 Approval of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation  5141.4, Child Abuse 

Prevention and Reporting, revision (Tabled) 

 

1415-087 Approval of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation  5144.1, Suspension 

and Expulsion/Due Process, revision (Tabled) 

 

H.  ADVANCED PLANNING 

 

Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on April 14, 2015, at Sierra County Office of Education, 

California, beginning with Closed Session as needed at 5 pm and the Regular Board Meeting at 6:00 

pm. 

 

Suggested Agenda Items 

 

a. BP and AR 5141.4 

 

I.    ADJOURNMENT 

 

Adjourned at 6:48 pm. 

DRYDEN/HALL 

5/0 

 

 

 

 __________________________   _______________________________  

 Patty Hall, Clerk     Dr. Merrill M. Grant, Superintendent 

        Secretary of the Board of Education 



Board ReportReqPay12a

Checks Dated 03/01/2015 through 03/31/2015

Pay to the Order of
Fund

Object

Check 

Date
Check Number

Expensed

Amount

Check

Amount

ROSE ASQUITH 01-520003/09/201500014122 108.27 

01-5899 216.55 108.28 

HEIDI BETHKE 01-520003/09/201500014123 57.00 

CDE                           CASHIER'S OFFICE 01-859003/09/201500014124 4,231.00 

FOLCHI LOGGING AND            

CONSTRUCTION, INC.

01-430003/09/201500014125 9,134.06 

LADUE SYSTEMS 01-581003/09/201500014126 4,136.00 

LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-550003/09/201500014127 272.94 

BARBARA MCKURTIS 01-510003/09/201500014128 15,220.72 

01-5810 6,678.48 8,542.24-

MARLENE MONGOLO 01-520003/09/201500014129 517.90 

NWN CORPORATION 01-440003/09/201500014130 7,526.39 

01-5810 2,955.36 

01-9330 16,392.47 5,910.72 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUC  

B-WARRANTS

01-580803/09/201500014131 84.00 

SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-430003/09/201500014132 231.50 

SINGLETON AUMAN PC 01-580003/09/201500014133 1,000.00 

CAMBIUM LEARNING INC. 01-420003/09/201500014134 414.78 

TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS            INSURANCE 

GROUP

01-953503/09/201500014135 3,431.00 

76-9576 17,009.10 13,578.10 

U.S. BANK 01-520003/09/201500014136 1,052.80 

01-5899 1,187.44 134.64 

VOYAGER 01-520003/09/201500014137 112.85 

01-5899 136.05 23.20 

ALLEN WRIGHT 01-520003/09/201500014138 21.57 

LENNIE GARCIA 01-520003/31/201500014139 78.00 

MASTERCRAFT HARDWOOD          LUMBER 

INC.

01-430003/31/201500014140 727.54 

MARLENE MONGOLO 01-520003/31/201500014141 39.00 

NORTHEASTERN JOINT POWERS     

AUTHORITY

76-957103/31/201500014142 5,615.50 

NWN CORPORATION 01-581003/31/201500014143 1,750.00 

RED LION HOTEL                WOODLAKE 

SACRAMENTO

01-520003/31/201500014144 113.36 

CRAIG SHERIDAN 01-430003/31/201500014145 59.92 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF ED. 01-580803/31/201500014146 186.85 

WORKABILITY REGION 4          SHAWNA 

PACHECO

01-520003/31/201500014147 125.00 

70,416.01 Total Number of Checks 26 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 25 51,222.41 01

Payroll Clearing 2 19,193.60 76

Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Apr  1 2015  1:33PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization 

of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the preceding Checks be approved.



Board ReportReqPay12a

Checks Dated 03/01/2015 through 03/31/2015

Pay to the Order of
Fund

Object

Check 

Date
Check Number

Expensed

Amount

Check

Amount

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 70,416.01 

.00 

70,416.01 

26 

Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Apr  1 2015  1:33PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization 

of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the preceding Checks be approved.



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 1 of 11 

 

 

Sierra County Office of Education 

School Accountability Report Card 

Reported Using Data from the 2013-14 School Year 

Published During 2014-15 

 

 
Every school in California is required by state law to publish a School Accountability Report Card (SARC), by February 1 of each year. 
The SARC contains information about the condition and performance of each California public school. Under the Local Control 
Funding Formula (LCFF) all local educational agencies (LEAs) are required to prepare a Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP), 
which describes how they intend to meet annual school-specific goals for all pupils, with specific activities to address state and local 
priorities. Additionally, data reported in an LCAP is to be consistent with data reported in the SARC. 
 
• For more information about SARC requirements, see the California Department of Education (CDE) SARC Web page at 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/.  
 
• View this SARC online at the school and/or LEA Web sites. 
 
• For more information about the LCFF or LCAP, see the CDE LCFF Web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/.  
 
• For additional information about the school, parents and community members should contact the school principal or the district 

office. 
 

About This School 
 
Contact Information (Most Recent Year) 

School Contact Information 

School Name------- Sierra County Office of Education 

Street------- 109 Beckwith Street 

City, State, Zip------- Loyalton, CA  96118 

Phone Number------- 530-993-1660 

Principal------- Dr. Merrill M. Grant 

E-mail Address------- mgrant@spjusd.org 

Web Site------- sierracountyofficeofeducation.org 

CDS Code 46104620119289 

 

District Contact Information 

District Name------- Sierra County Office of Education 

Phone Number------- 530-993-1660 

Superintendent------- Dr. Merrill M. Grant 

E-mail Address------- mgrant@spjusd.org 

Web Site------- www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org 

 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 2 of 11 

 
School Description and Mission Statement (Most Recent Year) 

 
Our mission is to provide a primary education with a goal of all children achieving literacy.  We provide children with the tools to 
encourage their total development, enhance their self-esteem and realize their potential in a safe, secure environment. 
 
For Fiscal Year 2013-2014, Sierra County Office of Education students are students who attend school in the State of Nevada and are 
reported as out-of-state students.  Therefore, no data is reflected for those students in this report. 
 
Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students.  Please see Sierra-
Plumas school sites School Accountability Report Card for more detail. 
 
Sierra County Opportunity student population is less than 10, therefore no data is reflected for those students in this report. 
 
 
Student Enrollment by Grade Level (School Year 2013-14) 

Grade Level Number of Students 

Kindergarten-------  

Grade 1-------  

Grade 2-------  

Grade 3-------  

Grade 4-------  

Grade 5-------  

Grade 6-------  

Grade 7-------  

Ungraded Elementary-------  

Grade 9-------  

Grade 10-------  

Grade 11-------  

Grade 12-------  

Ungraded Secondary-------  

Total Enrollment-------  

 
Student Enrollment by Group (School Year 2013-14) 

Group Percent of Total Enrollment 

Black or African American-------  

American Indian or Alaska Native-------  

Asian-------  

Filipino-------  

Hispanic or Latino-------  

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  

Two or More Races  

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  

English Learners  

Students with Disabilities  

 
 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 3 of 11 

A. Conditions of Learning 

 

State Priority: Basic 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the Basic State Priority (Priority 1): 
• Degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed in the subject area and for the pupils they are 

teaching; 
• Pupils have access to standards-aligned instructional materials; and 
• School facilities are maintained in good repair. 
 
Teacher Credentials 

Teachers 
School District 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2014-15 

With Full Credential 2 2 2 25 

Without Full Credential 0 0 0 1 

Teaching Outside Subject Area of Competence (with full credential) 0 0 1 7 

 
Teacher Misassignments and Vacant Teacher Positions 

Indicator 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

Misassignments of Teachers of English Learners  0 0 0 

Total Teacher Misassignments * 0 0 0 

Vacant Teacher Positions 0 0 0 
Note: “Misassignments” refers to the number of positions filled by teachers who lack legal authorization to teach that grade level, subject area, student group, etc.  
 
* Total Teacher Misassignments includes the number of Misassignments of Teachers of English Learners. 
 
Core Academic Classes Taught by Highly Qualified Teachers (School Year 2013-14) 

Location of Classes 
Percent of Classes In Core Academic Subjects 

Taught by Highly Qualified Teachers Not Taught by Highly Qualified Teachers 

This School   

All Schools in District   

High-Poverty Schools in District   

Low-Poverty Schools in District   
Note: High-poverty schools are defined as those schools with student eligibility of approximately 40 percent or more in the free and reduced price meals program. 
Low-poverty schools are those with student eligibility of approximately 39 percent or less in the free and reduced price meals program. 
 
Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Instructional Materials (School Year 2014-15) 
 
Year and month in which data were collected:  
 
 
 

Core Curriculum Area 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials/ 

Year of Adoption 

From 
Most Recent 

Adoption? 

Percent of Students 
Lacking Own 

Assigned Copy 

Reading/Language Arts   n/a 

Mathematics   n/a 

Science-------   n/a 

History-Social Science   n/a 

Foreign Language   n/a 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 4 of 11 

Core Curriculum Area 
Textbooks and Instructional Materials/ 

Year of Adoption 

From 
Most Recent 

Adoption? 

Percent of Students 
Lacking Own 

Assigned Copy 

Health-------   n/a 

Visual and Performing Arts   n/a 

Science Laboratory Equipment 
(grades 9-12) 

  n/a 

 
School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements (Most Recent Year) 

 
To determine the condition of our facilities, our district performs an annual inspection using the Facilities Inspection Tool, which is 
issued by the Office of Public School Construction. 
Base on that survey, we've answered the questions you see on this report. Please note that the information reflects the condition of 
our building as of the date of the report.  Since that time, those conditions may have changed. 
 
 
School Facility Good Repair Status (Most Recent Year) 

School Facility Good Repair Status (Most Recent Year) 
Year and month in which data were collected: September 2014 

System Inspected 
Repair Status Repair Needed and 

Action Taken or Planned Good Fair Poor 

Systems: 
Gas Leaks, Mechanical/HVAC, Sewer  

X        

Interior: 
Interior Surfaces 

X        

Cleanliness: 
Overall Cleanliness, Pest/ Vermin Infestation 

X        

Electrical: 
Electrical 

X        

Restrooms/Fountains: 
Restrooms, Sinks/ Fountains 

X        

Safety: 
Fire Safety, Hazardous Materials 

X        

Structural: 
Structural Damage, Roofs 

X        

External: 
Playground/School Grounds, Windows/ 
Doors/Gates/Fences 

X        

 
Overall Facility Rating (Most Recent Year) 

Overall Rating 
Exemplary Good Fair Poor 

X          

 
 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 5 of 11 

B. Pupil Outcomes 

 

State Priority: Pupil Achievement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the Pupil Achievement State Priority (Priority 4): 
 
• Statewide assessments (i.e., California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress and its successor the Standardized 

Testing and Reporting Program); 
 
• The Academic Performance Index; and 
 
• The percentage of pupils who have successfully completed courses that satisfy the requirements for entrance to the University 

of California and the California State University, or career technical education sequences or programs of study. 
 
California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress / Standardized Testing and Reporting Results for All Students in 
Science (Three-Year Comparison) 

Subject 

Percent of Students Scoring at Proficient or Advanced 
(meeting or exceeding the state standards) 

School District State 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

Science (grades 5, 8, and 10)          
Note: Science assessments include California Standards Tests (CSTs), California Modified Assessment (CMA), and California Alternate Performance Assessment 
(CAPA).  Scores are not shown when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical 
accuracy or to protect student privacy. 

 
California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress Results by Student Group in Science (School Year 2013-14) 

Group Percent of Students Scoring at Proficient or Advanced 

All Students in the LEA  

All Student at the School  

Male-------  

Female-------  

Black or African American  

American Indian or Alaska Native  

Asian-------  

Filipino-------  

Hispanic or Latino  

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  

White-------  

Two or More Races-------  

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  

English Learners-------  

Students with Disabilities  

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  
Note: CAASPP includes science assessments (CSTs, CMA, and CAPA) in grades 5, 8, and 10.  Scores are not shown when the number of students tested is ten or less, 
either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 6 of 11 

Standardized Testing and Reporting Results for All Students (Three-Year Comparison) 

Subject 

Percent of Students Scoring at Proficient or Advanced 
(meeting or exceeding the state standards) 

School District State 

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 

English-Language Arts          

Mathematics-------          

History-Social Science          
Note: STAR Program was last administered in 2012-13. Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number 
of students in this category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
Academic Performance Index Ranks (Three-Year Comparison) 

API Rank 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 

Statewide-------    

Similar Schools-------    
Note: For 2014 and subsequent years, the statewide and similar schools ranks will no longer be produced. 
 
Academic Performance Index Growth by Student Group (Three-Year Comparison) 

Group 
Actual API Change 

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 

All Students at the School    

Black or African American    

American Indian or Alaska Native    

Asian-------    

Filipino-------    

Hispanic or Latino    

Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander    

White-------    

Two or More Races    

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged    

English Learners    

Students with Disabilities    
Note: "N/D” means that no data were available to the CDE or LEA to report. “B” means the school did not have a valid API Base and there is no Growth or target 
information. “C” means the school had significant demographic changes and there is no Growth or target information. 

 
Career Technical Education Programs (School Year 2013-14) 

 
 
 
Career Technical Education Participation (School Year 2013-14) 

Measure 
CTE Program 
Participation 

Number of pupils participating in CTE 0 

% of pupils completing a CTE program and earning a high school diploma 0 

% of CTE courses sequenced or articulated between the school and institutions of postsecondary education 0 

 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 7 of 11 

Courses for University of California and/or California State University Admission 

UC/CSU Course Measure Percent 

2013-14 Students Enrolled in Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  

2012-13 Graduates Who Completed All Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  

 
 

State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the Other Pupil Outcomes State Priority (Priority 8): 
 
• Pupil outcomes in the subject areas of English, mathematics, and physical education. 
 
California High School Exit Examination Results for All Grade Ten Students (Three-Year Comparison) 

Subject 

Percent of Students Scoring at Proficient or Advanced 

School District State 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

English-Language Arts          

Mathematics          
Note: Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for 
statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
California High School Exit Examination Grade Ten Results by Student Group (School Year 2013-14) 

Group 

English-Language Arts Mathematics 

Not 
Proficient 

Proficient Advanced 
Not 

Proficient 
Proficient Advanced 

All Students in the LEA       

All Students at the School       

Male-------       

Female-------       

Black or African American       

American Indian or Alaska Native       

Asian-------       

Filipino-------       

Hispanic or Latino       

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander       

White-------       

Two or More Races       

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged       

English Learners-------       

Students with Disabilities       

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services       
Note: Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for 
statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 8 of 11 

California Physical Fitness Test Results (School Year 2013-14) 

Grade 
Level 

Percent of Students Meeting Fitness Standards 

Four of Six Standards Five of Six Standards Six of Six Standards 

-------5-------    

-------7-------    

-------9-------    
Note: Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for 
statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 

C. Engagement 

 

State Priority: Parental Involvement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the Parental Involvement State Priority (Priority 3): 
 
• Efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions for the school district and each schoolsite. 
 
Opportunities for Parental Involvement (Most Recent Year) 

 
Sierra County Opportunity School welcomes parental involvement.  This process is altered each year in accordance with student 
attendance, parent schedules and district school parent involvement activities. 
 

State Priority: Pupil Engagement 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the Pupil Engagement State Priority (Priority 5): 
 
• High school dropout rates; and 
• High school graduation rates. 
 
Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

Indicator 
School District State 

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 

Dropout Rate          

Graduation Rate          

 
Completion of High School Graduation Requirements (Graduating Class of 2013) 

Group 
Graduating Class of 2013 

School District State 

All Students    

Black or African American    

American Indian or Alaska Native    

Asian-------    

Filipino-------    

Hispanic or Latino    

Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander    

White-------    

Two or More Races    

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged    

English Learners    

Students with Disabilities    

 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 9 of 11 

State Priority: School Climate 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the School Climate State Priority (Priority 6): 
 
• Pupil suspension rates; 
• Pupil expulsion rates; and 
• Other local measures on the sense of safety. 
 
Suspensions and Expulsions 

Rate 
School District State 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

Suspensions------- n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a    

Expulsions------- n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a    
Note: The rate of suspensions and expulsions is calculated by dividing the total number of incidents by the total enrollment x 100. 
 
School Safety Plan (Most Recent Year) 

 
Sierra County Office of Education Opportunity School is situated in a small rural town.  Staff members remain vigilant during school 
breaks and before and after school each day.  Being very small and intimate, the staff is very familiar with all of the parents, 
guardians and other family members of the children.  The school building is situated securely between Loyalton Elementary School 
and the District Office Complex. All visitors are asked to check in at the school office, and regular school volunteers are screened.   
Our Safety Plan is based on the National Emergency Management System and is reviewed by the Board of Education annually. The 
plan covers emergency action procedures and general crisis management for potential situations in the classroom, outside the 
building and while on school buses.  The School Safety Plan is reviewed annually by the administrators and the Board of Education.   
The school runs practice safety drills (fire, earthquake, intruder) several times a year on a surprise basis to monitor the effectiveness 
of each drill. This includes a week-long safety training for all staff and students. 
 

D. Other SARC Information 

 
The information in this section is required to be in the SARC but is not included in the state priorities for LCFF. 
 
Adequate Yearly Progress Overall and by Criteria (School Year 2013-14) 

AYP Criteria School District 

Made AYP Overall   

Met Participation Rate: English-Language Arts   

Met Participation Rate: Mathematics   

Met Percent Proficient: English-Language Arts   

Met Percent Proficient: Mathematics   

Met Graduation Rate (if applicable)   

 
Federal Intervention Program (School Year 2014-15) 

Indicator School District 

Program Improvement Status   

First Year of Program Improvement   

Year in Program Improvement*   

Number of Schools Currently in Program Improvement ---  

Percent of Schools Currently in Program Improvement ---  
Note: Cells with “---“ do not require data.   
* DW (determination waiver) indicates that the PI status of the school was carried over from the prior year in accordance with the flexibility granted through the 
federal waiver process. 

 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 10 of 11 

Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Elementary) 

Grade 
Level 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classes Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classes Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classes 

1-20 21-32 33+ 1-20 21-32 33+ 1-20 21-32 33+ 

K 
---------- 

            

1 
---------- 

            

2 
---------- 

            

3 
---------- 

            

4 
---------- 

            

5 
---------- 

            

6 
---------- 

            

Other 
---------- 

            
Note: Number of classes indicates how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class). 

 
Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution (Secondary) 

Subject 

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 

Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms Avg. 
Class 
Size 

Number of Classrooms 

1-22 23-32 33+ 1-22 23-32 33+ 1-22 23-32 33+ 

English------- 
---------- 

            

Mathematics 
---------- 

            

Science------- 
---------- 

            

Social Science 
---------- 

            
Note: Number of classes indicates how many classrooms fall into each size category (a range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this 
information is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 
 
Academic Counselors and Other Support Staff (School Year 2013-14) 

Title 
Number of FTE 

Assigned to School 
Average Number of Students per 

Academic Counselor 

Academic Counselor------- 0 0 

Counselor (Social/Behavioral or Career Development) 0 --- 

Library Media Teacher (Librarian) 0 --- 

Library Media Services Staff (Paraprofessional) 0 --- 

Psychologist------- .1 --- 

Social Worker------- 0 --- 

Nurse------- 0 --- 

Speech/Language/Hearing Specialist 0 --- 

Resource Specialist------- 0 --- 

Other------- .5 --- 
Note: Cells with “---“ do not require data.  One Full Time Equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members 
who each work 50 percent of full time.   
 



2013-14 School Accountability Report Card for Sierra County Office of Education  Page 11 of 11 

Expenditures per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries (Fiscal Year 2012-13) 

Level 

Expenditures Per Pupil Average 
Teacher 
Salary Total 

Supplemental/ 
Restricted 

Basic/ 
Unrestricted 

School Site------- n/a n/a n/a n/a 

District------- --- --- n/a  

Percent Difference: School Site and District --- --- n/a n/a 

State------- --- ---   

Percent Difference: School Site and State --- --- n/a n/a 
Note: Cells with “---“ do not require data. 

 
Types of Services Funded (Fiscal Year 2013-14) 

 
 
 
Teacher and Administrative Salaries (Fiscal Year 2012-13) 

Category District Amount State Average for Districts In Same Category 

Beginning Teacher Salary   

Mid-Range Teacher Salary   

Highest Teacher Salary   

Average Principal Salary (Elementary)   

Average Principal Salary (Middle)   

Average Principal Salary (High)   

Superintendent Salary   

Percent of Budget for Teacher Salaries   

Percent of Budget for Administrative Salaries   
For detailed information on salaries, see the CDE Certificated Salaries & Benefits Web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/. 
 
Advanced Placement Courses (School Year 2013-14) 

Subject Number of AP Courses Offered* Percent of Students In AP Courses 

Computer Science  --- 

English-------  --- 

Fine and Performing Arts  --- 

Foreign Language   --- 

Mathematics  --- 

Science-------  --- 

Social Science  --- 

All courses   
Note: Cells with “---“ do not require data.   
 
* Where there are student course enrollments. 

 
Professional Development 

 
In conjunction with Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, a Professional Learning Community (PLC) was implemented and 
meets approximately 10 afternoons throughout the school year.  The school's primary focus is the utilization of technology in order 
to increase student achievement.   



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Board Policy
District Technology Plan

Philosophy, Goals, Objectives, and Comprehensive Plans BP 0440

DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY PLAN

The Governing Board recognizes that technological resources can enhance student achievement by
increasing student access to information, supporting teacher effectiveness, and facilitating the
administration of student assessments. Effective use of technology can also increase the efficiency of the
district's noninstructional operations and governance.

(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests)

The Superintendent or designee shall develop, for Board approval, a comprehensive three-year technology
plan based on an assessment of current uses of technology in the district and an identification of future
needs. The Superintendent or designee may appoint an advisory committee consisting of a variety of staff
and community stakeholders to assist with the development of the technology plan.

(cf. 0400 - Comprehensive Plans)
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees)
(cf. 9140 - Board Representatives)

The plan shall be integrated into the district's vision and goals for student learning and shall contain
research-based strategies and methods for the effective use of technology. When required for state or
federal grant programs in which the district participates, the plan shall also address all components
required for receipt of such grants.

(cf. 0000 - Vision)
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District)
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan)
(cf. 6000 - Concepts and Roles)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that any use of technological resources in the district protects
the private and confidential information of students and employees in accordance with law.

(cf. 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - Personnel Files)
(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

Legal Reference:
BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE
22584-22585 Student Online Personal Information Protection Act
EDUCATION CODE
10550-10555  Telecommunications standards
11800  K-12 High Speed Network grant program
49060-49085  Student records
51006  Computer education and resources



2

51007  Programs to strengthen technological skills
51865  California distance learning policy
51870-51871.5 Educational technology planning
60010  Instructional materials, definition
66940  Distance learning
PENAL CODE
502  Computer crimes, remedies
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20
1232g  Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act
1232h  Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 47
254 Universal service discounts (E-rate)
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 16
Part 312  Children's Online Privacy Protection Rule
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34
Part 99  Family Educational Rights and Privacy
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 47
54.500-54.523 Universal service support for schools

Management Resources:
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS
California K-12 Education Technology Plan Template, Criteria, and Guiding Questions, November 2014
Empowering Learning: A Blueprint for California Education Technology 2014-2017, April 2014
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION PUBLICATIONS
E-rate Modernization Order, July 11, 2014
WEB SITES
CSBA: http://www.csba.org
California Department of Education, Education Technology Office: http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/et
California Educational Technology Professionals Association: http://www.cetpa.net

Computer-Using Educators: http://www.cue.org
Federal Communications Commission:  http://www.fcc.gov
ON[the]LINE, digital citizenship resources: http://www.onthelineca.org
Technology Information Center for Administrative Leadership: http://www.portical.org

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation
District Technology Plan

Philosophy, Goals, Objectives, and Comprehensive Plans AR 0440

DISTRICT TECHNOLOGY PLAN

The district's technology plan shall address, at a minimum, the following components:

1. Background Information: A guide to the district's use of technology for the next three years, including:

a. Specific starting and ending dates of the plan

b. An overview of the district's location and demographics

c. A description of how stakeholders from the district and community were involved in the planning
process

d. A description of the relevant research behind the strategies and/or methods in the plan and how the
research supports the plan's curricular and professional development goals

2. Curriculum:  Clear goals and realistic strategies for using telecommunications and information technology
to improve educational services, including:

a. A description of teachers' and students' current access to instructional technology and current use
of digital tools, including district policies or practices to ensure equitable technology access for all
students

b. Goals and an implementation plan, including annual activities, for:

(1) How technology will be used to improve teaching and learning, how these goals align with
district curricular goals and other plans, how the district budget and local control and
accountability plan support these goals, and whether future funding proposals or
partnerships may be needed for successful implementation

(2) How and when students will acquire the technology skills and information literacy skills
needed for college and career readiness

(3) Internet safety and the appropriate and ethical use of technology in the classroom

(cf. 0000 - Vision)
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District)
(cf. 0400 - Comprehensive Plans)
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan)
(cf. 5131 - Conduct)
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying)
(cf. 6141 - Curriculum Development and Evaluation)
(cf. 6162.54 - Test Integrity/Test Preparation)
(cf. 6162.6 - Use of Copyrighted Materials)
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology)



2

3. Professional Development: A professional development strategy to ensure that staff understands how to use
new technologies to improve education services, including:

a. A summary of teachers' and administrators' current technology proficiency and integration skills
and needs for professional development

b. Goals and an implementation plan, including annual activities, for providing professional
development opportunities based on district needs assessment data and the curriculum component
of the technology plan

(cf. 4040 - Employee Use of Technology)
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development)
(cf. 4222 - Teacher Aides/Paraprofessionals)
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development)
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development)

4. Infrastructure, Hardware, Technical Support, Software, and Asset Management:  An assessment of the
telecommunication services, hardware, software, asset management, and other services that will be needed
to improve education services, including:

a. A description of existing hardware, Internet access, electronic learning resources, technical support,
and asset management in the district

b. A description of technology hardware, electronic learning resources, networking and
telecommunications infrastructure, physical plant modifications, technical support, and asset
management needed by district teachers, students, and administrators to support the activities in
the curriculum and professional development components of the plan

(cf. 3100 - Budget)
(cf. 7000 - Facilities Master Plan)

5. Monitoring and Evaluation: An evaluation process that enables the school to monitor progress toward the
specific goals and mid-course corrections in response to new developments and opportunities as they arise,
including:

a. The process for evaluating the plan's overall progress and impact on teaching and learning

b. The schedule for evaluating the effect of plan implementation and a description of the process and
frequency of communicating evaluation results to technology plan stakeholders

(cf. 0500 - Accountability)

6. Noninstructional Uses of Technology:  A description of how technology will be used to improve district
governance, district and school site administration, support services, and communications

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites)
(cf. 1114 - District-Sponsored Social Media)
(cf. 3580 - District Records)

7. Cost:  An estimate of the cost for each year of the plan and each of its major components

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
Revised: April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation
Citizen Advisory Committees

Community Relations AR 1220(a)
CITIZEN ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Committee Charge

When committees are appointed, committee members shall receive written information including, but not
limited to:

1. The committee members' names

2. The procedure to be used in the selection of the committee chairperson and other committee
officers

3. The name(s) and contact information of staff member(s) assigned to support the work of the
committee

4. The goals and specific charge(s) of the committee, including its topic(s) for study

5. The specific period of time that the committee is expected to serve

6. Legal requirements regarding meeting conduct and public notifications

7. Resources available to help the committee perform its tasks

8. Timelines for progress reports and/or final report

9. Relevant Board policies and administrative regulations

Members of advisory committees are not vicariously liable for injuries caused by the act or omission of
the district or a committee and are not liable for injuries caused by an act or omission of a committee
member acting within the scope of his/her role as a member of the committee. However, a member may
be liable for injury caused by his/her own wrongful conduct. (Government Code 815.2, 820.9)

(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance)
(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance)

Committees Subject to Brown Act Requirements

Any committee created by formal action of the Governing Board shall comply with Brown Act
requirements pertaining to open meetings, notices, and public participation pursuant to Government Code
54950-54963, including, but not necessarily limited to, the following:



2

1. Advisory committee established pursuant to Education Code 56190-56194 related to special
education

(cf. 0430 - Comprehensive Local Plan for Special Education)

2. Advisory committee established pursuant to Education Code 8070 related to career technical
education

(cf. 6178 - Career Technical Education)

3. Committee established to assist in development of a student wellness policy pursuant to 42 USC
1758b

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness)

4. Committee established pursuant to Education Code 17387-17391 related to the use or disposition
of excess real property

(cf. 3280 - Sale or Lease of District-Owned Real Property)

5. Citizens' oversight committee established to examine the expenditure of general obligation bond
or school facilities improvement bond revenues passed with a 55 percent majority of the voters
pursuant to Education Code 15278 and 15359.3

(cf. 7213 - School Facilities Improvement Districts)
(cf. 7214 - General Obligation Bonds)

6. Parent advisory committee and English learner parent advisory committee established pursuant to
Education Code 52063 to review and comment on the local control and accountability plan
(LCAP) and, if applicable, any advisory committee established pursuant to Education Code 52060
to consult with the district on LCAP development

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan)
(cf. 9130 - Board Committees)
(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices)
(cf. 9321 - Closed Session Purposes and Agendas)
(cf. 9321.1 - Closed Session Actions and Reports)
(cf. 9323 - Meeting Conduct)

Committees Not Subject to Brown Act Requirements

The following committees are exempt from the Brown Act but must conform to procedural meeting
requirements established in Education Code 35147:

1. School site councils established pursuant to Education Code 52852 and 64001 to develop and
approve a single plan for student achievement

(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils)

2. District or school advisory committees established pursuant to Education Code 52176 related to
programs for English learners



3

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Language Learners)

3. School advisory committees established pursuant to Education Code 54425(b) related to
compensatory education

(cf. 6171 - Title I Programs)

4. Any district advisory committee established pursuant to Education Code 54444.2 related to
migrant education programs

(cf. 6175 - Migrant Education Program)

5. School committees established pursuant to Education Code 11503 related to parent involvement

(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement)

Meetings of the above councils or committees shall be open to the public. Any member of the public shall
have the opportunity to address the council or committee during the meeting on any item within its
jurisdiction. Notice of the meeting shall be posted at the school site or other appropriate accessible location
at least 72 hours before the meeting, specifying the date, time, and location of the meeting and containing
an agenda that describes each item of business to be discussed or acted upon.  (Education Code 35147)

The above councils or committees shall not take action on any item not listed on the agenda unless all
members present unanimously find that there is a need to take immediate action and that this need came
to the council's or committee's attention after the agenda was posted. In addition to addressing items on
the agenda, members of the council, committee, or public may ask questions or make brief statements that
do not have a significant effect on district students or employees or that can be resolved solely by providing
information.  (Education Code 35147)

Any council or committee violating the above procedural requirements must, at the demand of any person,
reconsider the item at the next meeting, first allowing for public input on the item.  (Education Code
35147)

Any materials provided to a school site council shall be made available to any member of the public upon
request pursuant to the California Public Records Act.  (Education Code 35147; Government Code 6250-
6270)

(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records)

Committees created by the Superintendent or designee to advise the administration and which do not
report to the Board are not subject to the requirements of the Brown Act or Education Code 35147.

(cf. 2230 - Representative and Deliberative Groups)

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Board Policy
Business and Noninstructional Operations BP 3100

BUDGET

The Governing Board recognizes its critical responsibility for adopting a sound budget for each
fiscal year which is aligned with the County/District's vision, goals, priorities, local control and
accountability plan (LCAP), and other comprehensive plans. The County/District budget shall
guide decisions and actions throughout the year and shall serve as a tool for monitoring the fiscal
health of the County/District.

(cf. 0000 - Vision)
(cf. 0200 - Goals for the School District)
(cf. 0400 - Comprehensive Plans)
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan)
(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases)
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability)
(cf. 9000 - Role of the Board)

The County/District budget shall show a complete plan and itemized statement of all proposed
expenditures and all estimated revenues for the following fiscal year, together with a comparison
of revenues and expenditures for the current fiscal year. The budget shall also include the
appropriations limit and the total annual appropriations subject to limitation as determined
pursuant to Government Code 7900-7914.  (Education Code 42122)

Budget Development and Adoption Process

In order to provide guidance in the development of the budget, the Board shall annually establish
budget priorities based on identified County/District needs and goals and on realistic projections
of available funds.

The Superintendent or designee shall oversee the preparation of a proposed County/District budget
for approval by the Board and shall involve appropriate staff in the development of budget
projections.

The Board shall hold a public hearing on the proposed budget in accordance with Education Code
42103 and 42127.

(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices)
(cf. 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials)
(cf. 9323 - Meeting Conduct)

The Board shall adopt the district and county budget on or before July 1 of each year.  (Education
Code 42127)(1620)



2

At a public meeting held on a date after the public hearing on the budget and LCAP, the Board
shall adopt the budget following its adoption of the LCAP or an annual update to the LCAP at the
same meeting. The budget shall include the expenditures necessary to implement the LCAP or the
annual update to the LCAP.  (Education Code 42127) (1620)

The budget that is formally adopted by the Board shall adhere to the state's Standardized Account
Code Structure as prescribed by the Superintendent of Public Instruction. (Education Code 42126,
42127)

The Superintendent or designee may supplement this format with additional information as
necessary to effectively communicate the budget to the Board, staff, and public.

No later than five days after the Board adopts the district budget or by July 1, whichever occurs
first, the Board shall file with the Superintendent of Public Instruction the adopted district budget
and supporting data. The budget and supporting data shall be maintained and made available for
public review.  (Education Code 42127)

(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records)

If the Superintendent of Public Instruction disapproves or conditionally approves the district's
budget, the Board shall review and respond to his/her recommendations at a public meeting on or
before September 8. The response shall include any revisions to the adopted budget and any other
proposed actions to be taken as a result of those recommendations.  (Education Code 42127) (1620)

Budget Advisory Committee

The Superintendent or designee may appoint a budget advisory committee composed of staff,
Board representatives, and/or members of the community.

The committee shall submit recommendations during the budget development process and its
duties shall be assigned each year based on district needs. All recommendations of the committee
shall be advisory only and shall not be binding on the Board.

(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees)
(cf. 2230 - Representative and Deliberative Groups)
(cf. 3350 - Travel Expenses)
(cf. 9130 - Board Committees)
(cf. 9140 - Board Representatives)

Budget Criteria and Standards

The Superintendent or designee shall develop a district budget in accordance with state criteria
and standards specified in 5 CCR 15440-15450 as they relate to projections of average daily
attendance (ADA), enrollment, ratio of ADA to enrollment, local control funding formula revenue,
salaries and benefits, other revenues and expenditures, facilities maintenance, deficit spending,
unrestricted general fund balance, and reserves. In addition, he/she shall provide the supplemental
information specified in 5 CCR 15451 which addresses the methodology and budget assumptions
used, contingent liabilities, use of one-time revenues for ongoing expenditures, use of ongoing



3

revenues for one-time expenditures, contingent revenues, contributions, long-term commitments,
unfunded liabilities, status of collective bargaining agreements, the LCAP, and LCAP
expenditures. (Education Code 33128, 33128.3, 33129, 42127.01; 5 CCR 15440-15451)

The district budget shall provide for increasing or improving services for unduplicated students at
least in proportion to the increase in funds apportioned on the basis of the number and
concentration of unduplicated students. Unduplicated students are students who are eligible for
free or reduced-price meals, English learners, and/or foster youth. (Education Code 42238.07; 5
CCR 15496)

(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals)
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth)
(cf. 6174 - Education for English Language Learners)

The Board may establish other budget assumptions or parameters which may take into
consideration the stability of funding sources, legal requirements and constraints on the use of
funds, anticipated increases and/or decreases in the cost of services and supplies, program
requirements, and any other factors necessary to ensure that the budget is a realistic plan for
County/District revenues and expenditures.

(cf. 2210 - Administrative Discretion Regarding Board Policy)
(cf. 3110 - Transfer of Funds)

Fund Balance

The County/District shall classify fund balances in compliance with Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement 54, as follows:

1. Nonspendable fund balance (Object Codes 9711-9719) includes amounts that are not
expected to be converted to cash, such as resources that are not in a spendable form (e.g.,
revolving cash inventories and prepaids) or funds that are legally or contractually required
to be maintained intact.

2. Restricted fund balance (Object Code 9740)includes amounts constrained to specific
purposes by their providers or by law.

3. Committee fund balance (Object Codes 9750-9760) includes amounts constrained to
specific purposes by the Governing Board for Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District.
The County Superintendent shall be the highest level of decision making authority to set
aside funds for a specific purpose.

For this purpose, all commitments of funds shall be approved by a majority vote of the
Board. The constraints shall be imposed no later than the end of the reporting period (June
30), although the actual amounts may be determined subsequent to that date but prior to
the issuance of the financial statements.



4

4. Assigned fund balance (Object Code 9780) includes amounts which are intended for a
specific purpose but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed.
Assigned funds cannot cause a deficit in unassigned fund balance.

The Board delegates authority to assign funds to the assigned fund balance to the
Superintendent and authorizes the assignment of such funds to be made any time prior to
the issuance of the financial statements. The Superintendent may further delegate the
authority to assign funds at his/her discretion.

5. Unassigned fund balance (Object Codes 9789-9790) includes amounts that are available
for any purpose.

When multiple types of funds are available for an expenditure, the County/District shall first utilize
funds from the restricted fund balance as appropriate, then from the committed fund balance, then
from the assigned fund balance, and lastly from the unassigned fund balance.
The Board intends to maintain a minimum assigned and unassigned fund balance in an amount the
Board deems sufficient to maintain fiscal solvency and stability and to protect the County/District
against unforeseen circumstances.

If the assigned and unassigned fund balance falls below the level set by the Board due to an
emergency situation, unexpected expenditures, or revenue shortfalls, the Board shall develop a
plan to recover the fund balance at a minimum rate of 1% each year which may include dedicating
new unrestricted revenues, reducing expenditures, and/or increasing revenues or pursuing other
funding sources.

Long-Term Financial Obligations

The County/District's current-year budget and multiyear projections shall include adequate
provisions for addressing the County/District's long-term financial obligations, including, but not
limited to, long-term obligations resulting from collective bargaining agreements, financing of
facilities projects, unfunded or future liability for retiree benefits, and accrued workers'
compensation claims.

(cf. 4141/4241 - Collective Bargaining Agreement)
4154/4254/4354 - Health and Welfare Benefits)

(cf. 7210 - Facilities Financing)
(cf. 9250 - Remuneration, Reimbursement and Other Benefits)
The Board shall approve a plan for meeting the County/District's long-term obligations to fund
nonpension, other postemployment benefits (OPEBs). This plan shall include a specific funding
strategy and the method that will be used to finance the County/District's annual fiscal obligations
for such benefits in a manner that continually reduces the deficit to the County/District to the extent
possible. The Board reserves the authority to review and amend the funding strategy as necessary
to ensure that it continues to serve the best interests of the County/District and maintains flexibility
to adjust for changing budgetary considerations.

When the Superintendent or designee presents a report to the Board on the estimated accrued but
unfunded cost of OPEBs, the Board shall disclose, as a separate agenda item at the same meeting,



5

whether or not it will reserve a sufficient amount of money in its budget to fund the present value
of the benefits of existing retirees and/or the future cost of employees who are eligible for benefits
in the current fiscal year.  (Education Code 42140)

When the Superintendent or designee presents a report to the Board on the estimated accrued but
unfunded cost of workers' compensation claims, the Board shall disclose, as a separate agenda
item at the same meeting, whether or not it will reserve in the budget sufficient amounts to fund
the present value of accrued but unfunded workers' compensation claims or if it is otherwise
decreasing the amount in its workers' compensation reserve fund. The Board shall annually certify
to the County Superintendent the amount, if any, that it has decided to reserve in the budget for
these costs. The Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board shall submit to the
County Superintendent any budget revisions that may be necessary to account for this budget
reserve.  (Education Code 42141)

Budget Amendments

No later than 45 days after the Governor signs the annual Budget Act, the Superintendent or
designee shall make available for public review any revisions in budgeted revenues and
expenditures which occur as a result of the funding made available by that Budget Act.  (Education
Code 42127)

Whenever revenues and expenditures change significantly throughout the year, the Superintendent
or designee shall recommend budget amendments to ensure accurate projections of the
County/District's net ending balance. When final figures for the prior-year budget are available,
this information shall be used as soon as possible to update the current-year budget's beginning
balance and projected revenues and expenditures.

In addition, budget amendments shall be submitted for Board approval as necessary when
collective bargaining agreements are accepted, County/District income declines, increased
revenues or unanticipated savings are made available to the County/District, program proposals
are significantly different from those approved during budget adoption, interfund transfers are
needed to meet actual program expenditures, and/or other significant changes occur that impact
budget projections.

Legal Reference:
EDUCATION CODE
1240  Duties of county superintendent of schools
33127-33131  Standards and criteria for local budgets and expenditures
42103  Public hearing on proposed budget; requirements for content of proposed budget
42122-42129  Budget requirements
42130-42134  Financial certifications
42140-42141  Disclosure of fiscal obligations
42238-42251  Apportionments to districts, especially:
42238.01-42238.07 Local control funding formula
42602  Use of unbudgeted funds
42610  Appropriation of excess funds and limitation thereon
45253  Annual budget of personnel commission
45254  First year budget of personnel commission
52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan



6

GOVERNMENT CODE
7900-7914  Appropriations limit
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5
15060  Standardized account code structure
15440-15451  Criteria and standards for school district budgets
15494-15496  Local control funding formula, expenditures

Management Resources:
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS
California School Accounting Manual
New Requirements for Reporting Fund Balance in Governmental Funds, January 7, 2011
FISCAL CRISIS AND MANAGEMENT ASSISTANCE TEAM PUBLICATIONS
Fiscal Oversight Guide for AB 1200, AB 2756 and Subsequent Related Legislation, September 2006
GOVERNMENT FINANCE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION
Best Practice: Appropriate Level of Unrestricted Fund Balance in the General Fund, 2009
GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD STATEMENTS
Statement 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, March 2009
Statement 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-employment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, June 2004
Statement 34, Basic Financial Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis - For State and Local
Governments, June 1999
WEB SITES
CSBA: http://www.csba.org
Association of California School Administrators: http://www.acsa.org
California Department of Education, Finance and Grants: http://www.cde.ca.gov/fg
California Department of Finance: http://www.dof.ca.gov
Fiscal Crisis and Management Assistance Team: http://www.fcmat.org
Government Finance Officers Association: http://www.gfoa.org
Governmental Accounting Standards Board:  http://www.gasb.org
School Services of California, Inc.: http://www.sscal.com

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Policy SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
adopted: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised:   June 14, 2011
revised:   September 13, 2011
revised: December 10, 2013 Loyalton, California
revised:   April 14, 2015



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation

Students AR 5141.3

HEALTH EXAMINATIONS

The principal at each school shall notify parents/guardians of the rights of students and parents/guardians
related to health examinations. (Education Code 48980; 20 USC 1232h)

(cf. 5022 - Student and Family Privacy Rights)
(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry)
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services)
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

A parent/guardian may annually file with the principal a written statement withholding consent to the
physical examination of his/her child. Any such student shall be exempt from any physical examination
but shall be subject to exclusion from attendance when contagious or infectious disease is reasonably
suspected.  (Education Code 49451; 20 USC 1232h)

(cf. 5112.2 - Exclusions from Attendance)
(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases)
(cf. 5141.26 - Tuberculosis Testing)

Vision Tests

Each student's vision shall be appraised, by the school nurse or other personnel authorized under Education
Code 49452, during the kindergarten year or upon first enrollment or entry in a district elementary school
and subsequently in grades 2, 5, and 8. However, a student who is tested upon first enrollment or entry in
the district in grade 4 or 7 shall not be required to be appraised in the next immediate year.  (Education
Code 49455)

The vision appraisal shall include tests for visual acuity, including near vision. Male students shall also
be tested once for color vision in grade 1 or later and the results of the appraisal shall be entered in the
student's health record.  (Education Code 49455)

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

Appraisal of a student's vision may be waived under either of the following conditions:  (Education Code
49455)

1. The student's parent/guardian requests a waiver and presents a certificate from a
physician/surgeon, physician assistant, or optometrist showing the results of an examination of the
student's vision, including visual acuity and, in male students, color vision.

2. The student's parents/guardians file with the principal a written statement that they adhere to the
faith or teachings of any well-recognized religious sect, denomination, or organization and, in



2

accordance with its creed, tenets, or principles depend for healing upon prayer in the practice of
their religion.

Visual defects or any other defects found as a result of the vision examination shall be reported to the
parent/guardian with a request that remedial action be taken to correct or cure the defect. The report of a
visual defect, if made in writing, shall be made on a form prescribed by the Superintendent of Public
Instruction. The report shall not include a referral to any private practitioner. However, the student may
be referred to a public clinic or diagnostic and treatment center operated by a public hospital or by the
state, county, or city department of public health.  (Education Code 49456)

In addition to the vision appraisals described above, the school nurse and/or classroom teacher shall
continually and regularly observe students' eyes, appearance, behavior, visual performance, and
perception that may indicate vision difficulties. (Education Code 49455)

Hearing Tests

The Superintendent or designee shall provide for the administration of hearing tests to district students by
personnel authorized to conduct such testing pursuant to Education Code 49452 and 49454 and in
accordance with the procedures specified in 17 CCR 2951.

Each student shall be given a hearing screening test at the following times:  (17 CCR 2951)

1. Kindergarten or grade
2. Grade 2
3. Grade 5
4. Grade 8
5. Grade 10 or 11
6. Upon first entry into the California public school system

Each student enrolled in a special education program, other than those enrolled because of a hearing
problem, shall be given a hearing test when enrolled in the program and every third year thereafter.
Hearing tests may be given more frequently as needed, based on the individualized education program
team's evaluation of the student.  (17 CCR 2951)

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program)

A follow-up hearing threshold test shall be administered to any student who fails to respond to any of the
required frequencies in the screening test or is otherwise determined to need further evaluation.  (17 CCR
2951)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide written notification of test results to the parents/guardians
of any student who fails the hearing tests. When the test results fall within the levels specified in 17 CCR
2951 or there is evidence of pathology, such as an infection of the outer ear, chronic drainage, or a chronic
earache, the notification shall include a recommendation that a further medical and audiological evaluation
be obtained. (17 CCR 2951)

The dates and results of all screening tests and copies of threshold tests shall be included in the student's
health records. (17 CCR 2951)



3

The principal or designee shall prepare an annual report of the school hearing testing program, using forms
provided by the Department of Health Services, with copies to the Superintendent and the County
Superintendent of Schools.  (17 CCR 2951)

Scoliosis Screening

Each female student in grade 7 and each male student in grade 8 shall be screened for scoliosis.  (Education
Code 49452.5)

The parent/guardian of any student suspected of having scoliosis shall receive a notice which includes an
explanation of scoliosis and describes the significance of treatment at an early age.  This notice shall also
describe the public services available for treatment and include a referral to appropriate community
resources.  (Education Code 49452.5)

Type 2 Diabetes Information

Because type 2 diabetes in children is a preventable and treatable disease, parents/guardians are
encouraged to have their child screened by an authorized health care practitioner for risk factors of the
disease, including excess weight, and to request tests of their child's blood glucose to determine if he/she
has type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes.

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide parents/guardians of incoming students in grade 7 with an
information sheet developed by the CDE regarding type 2 diabetes, which includes: (Education Code
49452.7)

1. A description of the disease and its risk factors and warning signs

2. A recommendation that students displaying or possibly suffering from risk factors or warning signs
associated with type 2 diabetes be screened for the disease

3. A description of the different types of diabetes screening tests available

4. A description of treatments and prevention methods

The information sheet may be provided with the annual parental notifications required pursuant to
Education Code 48980.  (Education Code 49452.7)

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Regulation SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised: June 14, 2011
revised:     April 14, 2015



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation

Instruction AR 6145.2(a)

ATHLETIC COMPETITION

Nondiscrimination and Equivalent Opportunities in the Athletic Program

No student shall be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, be denied equivalent
opportunity in, or otherwise be discriminated against in interscholastic, intramural, or club athletics on the
basis of actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender expression, ethnic
group identification, race, ancestry, national origin, religion, color, mental or physical disability, or any
other basis specified in law. (Education Code 220, 221.5, 230; 5 CCR 4920; 34 CFR 106.41)

(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities)
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment)

The Superintendent or designee may provide single-sex teams when selection for the teams is based on
competitive skills.  (5 CCR 4921; 34 CFR 106.41)

Each student shall be allowed to participate in any single-sex athletic program or activity consistent with
his/her gender identity and for which he/she is otherwise eligible to participate, irrespective of the gender
listed on the student's records.  (Education Code 221.5)

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

When a school provides only one team in a particular sport for members of one sex, but provides no team
in the same sport for members of the other sex, and athletic opportunities in the total program for that sex
have been previously limited, members of the excluded sex shall be allowed to try out and compete with
the team.  The same standards for eligibility shall be applied to every student trying out for the team,
regardless of sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or other protected group
status. (5 CCR 4921; 34 CFR 106.41)

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that equivalent opportunities are available to both sexes in
athletic programs by considering, among other factors:  (5 CCR 4922; 34 CFR 106.41)

1. Whether the offered selection of sports and levels of competition effectively accommodate the
interests and abilities of both sexes

The athletic program may be found to effectively accommodate the interests and abilities of both
sexes using any one of the following tests:  (Education Code 230)

a. Whether the interscholastic-level participation opportunities for male and female students
are provided in numbers substantially proportionate to their respective enrollments



2

b. Where the members of one sex have been and are underrepresented among interscholastic
athletes, whether the district can show a history and a continuing practice of program
expansion that is demonstrably responsive to the developing interests and abilities of the
members of that sex

c. Where the members of one sex are underrepresented among interscholastic athletes and the
district cannot show a history and continuing practice of program expansion as required in
item #b above, whether the district can demonstrate that the interests and abilities of the
members of that sex have been fully and effectively accommodated by the present program

2. The provision and maintenance of equipment and supplies

3. Scheduling of games and practice times, selection of the season for a sport, and location of the
games and practices

4. Travel and per diem allowances

5. Opportunities to receive coaching and academic tutoring

6. Assignment and compensation of coaches and tutors

7. Provision of locker rooms, practice facilities, and competitive facilities

8. Provision of medical and training facilities and services

9. Provision of housing and dining facilities and services

10. Publicity

11. Provision of necessary funds

Beginning with the 2015-16 school year and every year thereafter, each school that offers competitive
athletics shall post the following information on its school web site, or on the district web site if the school
does not have a web site, at the end of the school year:  (Education Code 221.9)

1. The total enrollment of the school, classified by gender

2. The number of students enrolled at the school who participate in competitive athletics, classified
by gender

3. The number of boys' and girls' teams, classified by sport and by competition level

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites)

The data reported for items #1-3 above shall reflect the total number of players on a team roster on the
official first day of competition. The materials used to compile this information shall be retained by the
school for at least three years after the information is posted on the web site. (Education Code 221.9)



3

(cf. 3580 - District Records)

Health and Safety

The Superintendent or designee shall annually distribute to student athletes and their parents/guardians an
information sheet on concussions and head injuries. The student and parent/guardian shall sign and return
the information sheet before the student's initiating practice or competition.  (Education Code 49475)

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

If a student athlete is suspected of sustaining a concussion or head injury in an athletic activity, he/she
shall be immediately removed from the activity for the remainder of the day. The student shall not be
permitted to return to the activity until he/she is evaluated by a licensed health care provider trained in the
management of concussions and receives the health care provider's written clearance to return to the
activity. If the health care provider determines that the athlete sustained a concussion or a head injury,
the athlete shall also complete a graduated return-to-play protocol of no less than seven days in duration
under the supervision of a licensed health care provider.  (Education Code 49475)

The Superintendent or designee shall notify the student's parent/guardian of the date, time, and extent of
any injury suffered by the student and any actions taken to treat the student.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to coaches and/or athletic trainers regarding
concussion symptoms, prevention, and appropriate response.

(cf. 4127/4227/4327 - Temporary Athletic Team Coaches)

A middle school or high school football team shall not hold a full-contact practice during the off-season
and shall not conduct more than two full-contact practices per week during the preseason and regular
season (from 30 days before the commencement of the regular season until the completion of the final
interscholastic football game of that season). In addition, the full-contact portion of a practice shall not
exceed 90 minutes in any single day. For these purposes, full-contact practice means a practice where
drills or live action is conducted that involves collisions at game speed, where players execute tackles and
other activity that is typical of an actual tackle football game. (Education Code 35179.5)

Parental Notifications

Before a student participates in interscholastic athletic activities, the Superintendent or designee shall send
a notice to the student's parents/guardians which:

1. Contains information about the procedures for filing a discrimination complaint that arises out of
an interscholastic athletic activity, including the name of the district's Title IX Coordinator

(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures)

2. Includes a copy of the Athletes' Bill of Rights pursuant to Education Code 271



4

3. Explains that there is an element of risk associated with all athletic competitions and that the
district cannot guarantee that students will not be injured, despite a commitment to every
participant's health and welfare

(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance)

4. Provides information about insurance protection pursuant to Education Code 32221.5

(cf. 5143 - Insurance)

5. Requests parental permission for the student to participate in the program and, if appropriate, be
transported by the district to and from competitions

(cf. 3541.1 - Transportation for School-Related Trips)

6. States the district's expectation that students adhere strictly to all safety rules, regulations, and
instructions, as well as rules and guidelines related to conduct and sportsmanship

(cf. 5144 - Discipline)
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process)

7. Includes a copy of the local California Interscholastic Federation (CIF) league rules
8. Includes information about the CIF bylaw and district policy requiring any student athlete and

his/her parent/guardian to sign a statement that the student will not use steroids or dietary
supplements banned by the U.S. Anti-Doping Agency

(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids)

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised:   March 13, 2012
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Board Policy

Instruction BP 6158

INDEPENDENT STUDY

The Governing Board authorizes independent study as an optional alternative instructional strategy
for eligible students whose needs may be best met through study outside of the regular classroom
setting. Independent study shall offer a means of individualizing the educational plan to serve
students who desire a more challenging educational experience, whose health or other personal
circumstances make classroom attendance difficult, who are unable to access course(s) due to
scheduling problems, and/or who need to make up credits or fill gaps in their learning. As
necessary to meet student needs, independent study may be offered on a full-time basis or on a
part-time basis in conjunction with part- or full-time classroom study.

(cf. 5147 - Dropout Prevention)
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards)
(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study)
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements)
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation)
(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program)
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education)

The Superintendent or designee may provide a variety of independent study opportunities,
including, but not limited to, through a program or class within a comprehensive school, an
alternative school or program of choice, a charter school, a home-based format, and an online
course.

(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization)
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice)

A student's participation in independent study shall be voluntary. Students participating in
independent study shall have the right, at any time, to enter or return to the regular classroom mode
of instruction. (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700)

Parents/guardians of students who are interested in independent study shall contact the
Superintendent or designee. The Superintendent or designee shall approve independent study for
an individual student only upon determining that the student is prepared to meet the district's
requirements for independent study and is likely to succeed in independent study as well as or
better than he/she would in the regular classroom setting.

The minimum period of time for any independent study option shall be five consecutive school
days.



2

Written Agreements

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a written master agreement and, as appropriate,
a learning agreement for students participating in course-based independent study exist for each
participating student as prescribed by law. (Education Code 51747, 51749.5)

The master agreement shall specify the length of time in which each independent study assignment
must be completed. Because excessive leniency in the duration of independent study assignments
may result in a student falling behind his/her peers and increase the risk of dropping out of school,
independent study assignments shall be no more than one week for all grade levels and types of
program. However, when necessary based on the specific circumstances of the student's approved
program, the Superintendent or designee may allow for a longer period of time between the date
an assignment is made and when it is due, up to the termination date of the agreement.

An evaluation shall be conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain
in independent study whenever the student misses three assignments, unless the student's written
agreement specifies a lower or higher number of missed assignments based on the nature of the
assignments, the total number of assignments, and/or other unique circumstances.

Student-Teacher Conferences

Supervising teachers should establish an appropriate schedule for student-teacher conferences in
order to help identify students falling behind in their work or in danger of failing or dropping out
of school. Teachers are expected to monitor student progress and work closely with each student
to determine the amount and type of contact needed for the student to be successful in the program.

Missing appointments with the supervising teacher without valid reasons may trigger an evaluation
to determine whether the student should remain in independent study.

Home-Based Independent Study

The Superintendent or designee shall encourage parents/guardians desiring to teach their children
at home to have their children participate in independent study. Such participation allows
continued contact and cooperation between the school system and the home-based student and
ensures that the student will be offered a standards-based education substantially equivalent in
quality and quantity to the district's classroom instruction.

Program Evaluation

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board the number of district students
participating in independent study, the average daily attendance generated for apportionment
purposes, student performance as measured by standard indicators and in comparison to students
in classroom-based instruction, and the number and proportion of independent study students who
graduate or successfully complete independent study. Based on the program evaluation, the Board
and Superintendent shall determine areas for program improvement as needed.

(cf. 0500 - Accountability)



3

(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement)
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment)
(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests)
(cf. 6162.52 - High School Exit Examination)

Legal Reference:
EDUCATION CODE
17289  Exemption for facilities
41976.2  Independent study programs; adult education funding
42238  Revenue limits
42238.05  Local control funding formula; average daily attendance
44865  Qualifications for home teachers and teachers in special classes and schools
46200-46208  Instructional day and year
46300-46307.1  Methods of computing average daily attendance
47612.5  Independent study in charter schools
48204  Residency
48206.3  Home or hospital instruction; students with temporary disabilities
48220  Classes of children exempted
48340  Improvement of pupil attendance
48915  Expulsion; particular circumstances
48916.1  Educational program requirements for expelled students
48917  Suspension of expulsion order
49011  Student fees
51225.3  Requirements for high school graduation
51745-51749.6 Independent study programs
52522  Adult education alternative instructional delivery
52523  Adult education as supplement to high school curriculum; criteria
56026  Individuals with exceptional needs
58500-58512  Alternative schools and programs of choice
FAMILY CODE
6550  Authorization affidavits
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5
11700-11703  Independent study
19819  State audit compliance
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20
6301  Highly qualified teachers
COURT DECISIONS
Modesto City Schools v. Education Audits Appeal Panel, (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1365
EDUCATION AUDIT APPEALS PANEL DECISIONS
Lucerne Valley Unified School District, Case No. 03-02 (2005)

Management Resources:
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS
Elements of Exemplary Independent Study
Approaches to Satisfying No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 Teacher Requirements for Independent Study in Secondary
Schools, January 28, 2010
WEB SITES
California Consortium for Independent Study: http://www.ccis.org
California Department of Education, Independent Study:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/eo/is
Education Audit Appeals Panel:  http://www.eaap.ca.gov

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised:     August 9, 2011
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation
Independent Study

Instruction AR 6158(a)

INDEPENDENT STUDY

Educational Opportunities

Educational opportunities offered through independent study may include, but are not limited to:
(Education Code 51745)

1. Special assignments extending the content of regular courses of instruction

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study)

2. Individualized study in a particular area of interest or in a subject not currently available in
the regular school curriculum

3. Individualized alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core
curriculum, but not provided as an alternative curriculum

4. Continuing and special study during travel

(cf. 5112.3 - Student Leave of Absence)

5. Volunteer community service activities and leadership opportunities that support and
strengthen student achievement

(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization)
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes)
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice)

In addition, when requested by a parent/guardian due to an emergency, vacation, or illness,
independent study may be used on a short-term basis to ensure that the student is able to maintain
academic progress in his/her regular classes.

(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses)

No course required for high school graduation shall be offered exclusively through independent
study.  (Education Code 51745)

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements)

Equivalency



2

The district's independent study option shall be substantially equivalent in quality and quantity to
classroom instruction to enable participating students to complete the district's
adopted course of study within the customary timeframe. Students in independent study shall have
access to the same services and resources that are available to other students in the school and shall
have equal rights and privileges. (5 CCR 11700, 11701.5)

(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities)

The district shall not provide independent study students and their parents/guardians with funds or
items of value that are not provided for other students and their parents/guardians.  (Education
Code 46300.6, 51747.3)

Eligibility for Independent Study

Provided that experienced certificated staff are available to effectively supervise students in
independent study, the Superintendent or designee may approve the participation of a student who
demonstrates the motivation, commitment, organizational skills, and academic skills necessary to
work independently.  A student whose academic performance is not at grade level may participate
in independent study only if the program is able to provide appropriate support, such as
supplemental instruction, tutoring, counseling, ongoing diagnostic assessments, and/or
differentiated materials, to enable the student to be successful.  For an elementary student, the
Superintendent or designee may consider the parent/guardian's level of commitment to assist the
student.

A student participating in independent study must be a resident of the county or an adjacent county.
Full-time independent study shall not be available to students whose district residency status is
based on their parent/guardian's employment within district boundaries pursuant to Education
Code 48204.  (Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3)

(cf. 5111.12 - Residency Based on Parent/Guardian Employment)

For a student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, participation in independent
study shall be approved only if his/her individualized education program specifically provides for
such participation.  (Education Code 51745)

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program)

A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education Code
48206.3 by means of independent study.  (Education Code 51745)

(cf. 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction)

Students age 21 or older, and students age 19 or older who have not been continuously enrolled in
school since their 18th birthday, may participate in independent study only through the adult
education program for the purpose of enrolling in courses required for a high school diploma by
Education Code 51225.3 or the Governing Board.  (Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4)



3

(cf. 6200 - Adult Education)

No more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity
school or program, not including pregnant students and parenting students who are primary
caregivers for one or more of their children, shall be enrolled in independent study.  (Education
Code 51745)

(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students)
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education)

Master Agreement

A written agreement shall be developed and implemented for each student participating in
independent study for five or more consecutive school days.  (Education Code 46300, 51747; 5
CCR 11703)

The agreement shall include general student data, including the student's name, address, grade
level, birth date, school of enrollment, and program placement.

The independent study agreement for each participating student also shall include, but not be
limited to, all of the following:  (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700, 11702)

1. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting the student's assignments and for
reporting his/her progress

2. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work and the methods used to
evaluate that work

3. The specific resources, including materials and personnel, that will be made available to
the student

4. A statement of the Board's policy detailing the maximum length of time allowed between
an assignment and its completion and the number of missed assignments, by grade level
and type of program, which will trigger an evaluation of whether the student should be
allowed to continue in independent study

5. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending dates
for the student's participation in independent study under the agreement, with a maximum
of one school year

6. A statement of the number of course credits or, for an elementary student, other measures
of academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the student
upon completion

7. A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no
student may be required to participate



4

8. In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any school,
class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that instruction
may be provided through independent study only if the student is offered the alternative of
classroom instruction

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process)

9. Signatures of the student, the parent/guardian or caregiver of the student if the student is
under age 18 years, the certificated employee responsible for the general supervision of
independent study, and all persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance
to the student

The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student to
receive instruction through independent study.

The signed, dated agreement may be maintained on file electronically. (Education Code 51747)

Course-Based Independent Study

The district shall offer a course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12
subject to the following requirements:  (Education Code 51749.5)

1. Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who hold
the appropriate subject matter credential, meet the requirements for highly qualified
teachers pursuant to 20 USC 6301, and are employed by the district or by another district,
charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a memorandum of
understanding to provide the instruction.

(cf. 4112.2 - Certification)
(cf. 4112.24 - Teacher Qualifications Under the No Child Left Behind Act)

2. Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and
educational quality as equivalent classroom-based courses and shall be aligned to all
relevant local and state content standards. This certification shall, at a minimum, include
the duration, number of equivalent daily instructional minutes for each school day that
student is enrolled, number of equivalent total instructional minutes, and number of course
credits for each course, consistent with that of equivalent classroom-based courses.

3. Students enrolled in these courses shall meet the applicable age requirements established
pursuant to Education Code 46300.1 and 46300.4 and the applicable residency and
enrollment requirements established pursuant to Education Code 46300.2, 48204, and
51747.3.

4. Teachers shall communicate with each student in person, by telephone, or by any other live
visual or audio connection at least twice per calendar month to assess whether the student
is making satisfactory educational progress. For this purpose, satisfactory educational
progress includes, but is not limited to, applicable statewide accountability measures and
the completion of assignments, examinations, or other indicators that the student is working



5

on assignments, learning required concepts, and progressing toward successful completion
of the course, as determined by the teacher providing instruction.

Written or computer-based evidence of satisfactory educational progress shall be retained
for each course and student, including, at a minimum, a grade book or summary document
that lists all assignments, examinations, and associated grades for each course.

If satisfactory educational progress is not being made, the teacher shall notify the student
and, if the student is under age 18 years, his/her parent/guardian. The teacher shall conduct
an evaluation to determine whether it is in the student's best interest to remain in the course
or whether he/she should be referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is
not limited to, a regular school program. A written record of the evaluation findings shall
be a mandatory interim student record maintained for three years from the date of the
evaluation. If the student transfers to another California public school, the record shall be
forwarded to that school.

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

5. Examinations shall be administered by a proctor.

6. Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the student
is enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results also
shall be disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students enrolled
in classroom-based courses.

(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests)

7. A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in this program.

8. The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of
Education Code 51745.6.

9. For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in this
program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day
requirements, and the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent
instructional minutes pursuant to Education Code 46200-46208.

(cf. 6111 - School Calendar)
(cf. 6112 - School Day)

10. Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to the University of California
or California State University shall not be offered exclusively through independent study.

11. A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by
Education Code 49011.

(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges)



6

12. A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on the basis
that he/she does not have the materials, equipment, or Internet access necessary to
participate in the course.

Before enrolling a student in a course within this program, the Superintendent or designee shall
provide the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, his/her parent/guardian with a written
learning agreement that includes all of the following:  (Education Code 51749.6)

1. A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to this program

2. The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each enrolled
course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to item #2 above

3. The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span
multiple school years

4. The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited to, a
description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student
evaluation is required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be
referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school
program

5. The specific resources, including materials and personnel, that will be made available to
the student

6. A statement that the student is not required to enroll in courses in this program

7. Signatures of the student, the student's parent/guardian if the student is under age 18 years,
and all teachers providing instruction

The student's or parent/guardian's signature shall constitute permission for the student to receive
instruction through independent study.  (Education Code 51749.6)

The Superintendent or designee shall retain a physical or electronic copy of the signed learning
agreement for at least three years and as appropriate for auditing purposes.  (Education Code
51749.6)

Monitoring Student Progress

The independent study administrator and/or supervising teacher shall promptly and directly
address any failure by the student to meet the terms of his/her written agreement. The following
supportive strategies may be used:

1. A letter to the student and/or parent/guardian

2. A meeting between the student and the teacher and/or counselor



7

3. A meeting between the student and the independent study administrator, including the
parent/guardian if appropriate

4. An increase in the amount of time the student works under direct supervision

When the student has missed the number of assignments specified in the written agreement as
requiring an evaluation, the Superintendent or designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine
whether or not independent study is appropriate for the student. This evaluation may result in
termination of the independent study agreement and the student's return to the regular classroom
program or other alternative program.

A written record of the findings of any such evaluation shall be treated as a mandatory interim
student record which shall be maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation. (Education
Code 51747)

Independent study students who are late, miss scheduled conferences, or do not submit assigned
work on time shall not be reported as tardy or truant.

Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator

The responsibilities of the independent study administrator include, but are not limited to:

1. Recommending certificated staff to be assigned as independent study teachers and
supervising staff assigned to independent study functions who are not regularly supervised
by another administrator

2. Approving or denying the participation of students requesting independent study

3. Facilitating the completion of written independent study agreements

4. Ensuring a smooth transition for students into and out of the independent study mode of
instruction

5. Approving all credits earned through independent study

6. Completing or coordinating the preparation of all records and reports required by law,
Board policy, or administrative regulation

Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers

Each student's independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and carried out under the general
supervision of a certificated employee who consents to the assignment.  (Education Code 44865,
51747.5; 5 CCR 11700)

The ratio of student average daily attendance for independent study students age 18 years or
younger to full-time equivalent certificated employees responsible for independent study shall not
exceed the equivalent ratio for all other education programs at the applicable grade span in the



8

district, unless a new higher or lower grade span ratio for all other educational programs offered
within the grade span is negotiated in a collective bargaining agreement or the district enters into
a memorandum of understanding that indicates an existing collective bargaining agreement
contains an alternative grade span ratio. (Education Code 51745.6)

The responsibilities of the supervising teacher shall include, but are not limited to:

1. Completing designated portions of the written independent study agreement

2. Supervising and approving coursework and assignments

3. Maintaining records of student assignments showing the date the assignment is given and
the date the assignment is due

4. Maintaining a daily or hourly attendance register in accordance with item #4 in the section
on "Records" below

5. Providing direct instruction and counsel as necessary for individual student success

6. Regularly meeting with the student to discuss the student's progress

7. Determining the time value of assigned work or work products completed and submitted
by the student

8. Assessing student work and assigning grades or other approved measures of achievement

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that independent study teachers have access to
professional development and support comparable to classroom-based teachers.

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development)

Records

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that records are maintained for audit purposes.  These
records shall include, but not be limited to:  (Education Code 51748; 5 CCR 11703)

1. A copy of the Board policy, administrative regulation, and other procedures related to
independent study

2. A listing of the students, by grade level, program, and school, who have participated in
independent study, along with the units of the curriculum attempted and completed by
students in grades K-8 and the course credits attempted by and awarded to students in
grades 9-12 and adult education

3. A file of all agreements, with representative samples of each student's work products
bearing the supervising teacher's notations indicating that he/she has personally evaluated



9

the work or that he/she has personally reviewed the evaluations made by another
certificated teacher

4. As appropriate to the program in which the students are participating, a daily or hourly
attendance register that is separate from classroom attendance records, maintained on a
current basis as time values of student work products judged by a certificated teacher, and
reviewed by the supervising teacher if they are two different persons

(cf. 3580 - District Records)

The Superintendent or designee also shall maintain a record of grades and other evaluations issued
to each student for independent study assignments.

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised:     August 9, 2011
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1
(Board:  There is no “red” in this document because the changes were irrelevant going from STAR testing
to CAASP. I just deleted them. HT)

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation
State Academic Achievement Tests

AR 6162.51
Instruction
STATE ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT TESTS

The Superintendent or designee shall administer the California Assessment of Student
Performance and Progress (CAASPP) to all district students at applicable grade levels, except
those students exempted by law.

The district shall permit any locally funded charter school to administer the CAASPP to its students
in coordination with the testing of district students. In addition, the Superintendent or designee
shall arrange for the testing of students in any alternative education program or program conducted
off campus, including, but not limited to, non-classroom based programs, continuation schools,
independent study, community day schools, county community schools, juvenile court schools, or
nonpublic, nonsectarian schools. No test shall be administered in a home or hospital except by a
test examiner. (5 CCR 851)

(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization)
(cf. 0420.41 - Charter School Oversight)
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study)
(cf. 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for Special Education)
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice)
(cf. 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction)
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education)
(cf. 6185 - Community Day School)

On or before September 30 of each year, the Superintendent or designee shall designate a district
coordinator who shall oversee all matters related to the testing program and serve as the district
representative and liaison with the test contractor and the California Department of Education
(CDE). The Superintendent or designee shall also designate a coordinator for each test site. The
duties of the district and site test coordinators shall include those specified in 5 CRR 857-858.  (5
CCR 857-858)

The Superintendent or designee also shall appoint test examiner(s) to administer the state
assessments. A test examiner shall be an employee or contractor of the district or, for an alternate
assessment for students with disabilities, shall be a certificated or licensed employee of the school,
district, or county office of education.  (5 CCR 850)

(cf. 4112.2 - Certification)
(cf. 4113 - Assignment)

As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee shall assign a specially trained district employee
to serve as a test proctor to assist the test examiner; a specially trained district employee, or other



2
(Board:  There is no “red” in this document because the changes were irrelevant going from STAR testing
to CAASP. I just deleted them. HT)
person supervised by a district employee, to serve as a translator to translate the test directions into
a student's primary language; and a district employee to serve as a scribe to transcribe a student's
responses to the format required by the test. A student's parent/guardian shall not be eligible to be
that student's translator or scribe.  (5 CCR 850)

Test coordinators, examiners, proctors, translators, and scribes shall sign a test security agreement
or affidavit.  (5 CCR 859)

Tests Included in the State Assessment System

The district shall administer the following CAASPP assessments:  (Education Code 60640)

1. The Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium assessments for English language arts and
mathematics in grades 3-8 and 11, except that:

(cf. 6142.91 - Reading/Language Arts Instruction)
(cf. 6142.92 - Mathematics Instruction)

a. Recently arrived English learners, defined pursuant to Education Code 60603 as
English learners who are in their first 12 months of attending a school in the United
States, shall be exempted from taking the English language arts assessment to the
extent allowed by federal law.

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Language Learners)

b. Students with disabilities who are unable to participate in these assessments, even
with the resources described in the section "Testing Variations" below, may be
provided an alternate test in accordance with their individualized education
program (IEP), as provided in item #3 below.

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program)
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504)

2. Science assessments at grades 5, 8, and 10

(cf. 6142.93 - Science Instruction)

3. For students with disabilities who are unable to take the tests specified in items #1-2 above
even with appropriate accommodations or other testing resources:

a. California Alternate Assessment in English language arts and mathematics

b. For the science assessment, either the California Alternate Performance
Assessment or California Modified Assessment, in accordance with the student's
IEP



3
(Board:  There is no “red” in this document because the changes were irrelevant going from STAR testing
to CAASP. I just deleted them. HT)
In addition, the Superintendent or designee may administer a primary language assessment to
English learners in grades 2-11.  Administration of this test shall not replace the administration of
the above tests, administered in English, to English learners. (Education Code 60640)

The primary language assessment also may be used to assess students in a dual language
immersion program who are not limited English proficient or who are redesignated fluent English
proficient, subject to the approval of the California Department of Education (CDE) of an
agreement between the district and the state testing contractor. (Education Code 60640)

Exemptions

Each year the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians of their child's
participation in the CAASPP and of the provisions of Education Code 60615 related to exemptions
from testing.  (5 CCR 852)

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

A parent/guardian may annually submit to the school a written request to excuse his/her child from
any or all parts of the CAASPP assessments for the school year, and such a request shall be granted
by the Superintendent or designee. However, district employees shall not solicit or encourage any
exemption request on behalf of any student or group of students.  (Education Code 60615; 5 CCR
852)

If a parent/guardian submits an exemption request after testing has begun, any test(s) completed
before the request is submitted will be scored and the results reported to the parent/guardian and
included in the student's records.  (5 CCR 852)

Testing Period

The Superintendent or designee shall establish testing days for district students within the
following testing windows:  (5 CCR 855)

1. Assessments in English language arts and mathematics shall not be administered until at
least 66 percent of the school's annual instructional days have been completed for grades
3-8, or at least 80 percent of the annual instructional days for grade 11, and may continue
up to and including the last day of instruction for the regular school calendar.

2. Alternate assessments for students with disabilities and science assessments for all students
shall be administered during a testing window of 25 instructional days that includes 12
instructional days before and after completion of 85 percent of the school's, track's, or
program's instructional days.

3. The primary language assessment shall be administered to English learners within the
testing window specified in item #2.

Students who are absent during testing shall be provided an opportunity to take the tests within the
testing window.



4
(Board:  There is no “red” in this document because the changes were irrelevant going from STAR testing
to CAASP. I just deleted them. HT)

Testing Variations

Assessments shall be administered in accordance with the manuals or other instructions provided
by the test contractor and CDE, except that, as appropriate, students may be provided universal
tools, designated supports, and/or accommodations during testing that are specifically allowed
pursuant to 5 CCR 853.5 or 853.7.  (5 CCR 850, 853.5, 853.7)

Designated supports or accommodations provided to students with disabilities shall be those
specified in their IEP or Section 504 plan. (5 CCR 850, 853.5)

If a resource has not been specifically identified in 5 CCR 853.5 or 853.7 but is regularly used by
a student in the classroom for instruction and/or assessment, the district or school site test
coordinator may submit a written request to the CDE for approval to use that individualized aid.
He/she shall submit the request at least 10 business days prior to the student's first day of CAASPP
testing.  (5 CCR 853.5)

Report of Test Results

For any state assessments that produce valid individual student results, the Superintendent or
designee shall forward or transmit the student's test results to his/her parents/guardians within 20
working days from receipt of the results from the test contractor or, if the district receives the
results from the contractor after the last day of instruction for the school year, then within the first
20 working days of the next school year. The report shall include a clear explanation of the purpose
of the test, the student's score, and its intended use by the district. An individual student's scores
shall also be reported to his/her school and teacher(s) and shall be included in his/her student
record.  (Education Code 60641; 5 CCR 863)

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

With parent/guardian consent, the Superintendent or designee may release a student's test results
to a postsecondary educational institution for the purposes of credit, placement, determination of
readiness for college-level coursework, or admission. (Education Code 60641)

The Superintendent or designee shall present districtwide, school-level, and grade-level results to
the Governing Board at a regularly scheduled meeting. The Board shall not receive individual
students' scores or the relative position of any individual student.  (Education Code 49076, 60641)

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Regulation SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION
approved:  April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
revised: December 9, 2008
revised: May 8, 2012
revised: March 11, 2014
revised:     April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California



1

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
Administrative Regulation

Instruction AR 6173

EDUCATION FOR HOMELESS CHILDREN

Definitions

Homeless students means students who lack a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence and
includes:  (42 USC 11434a)

1. Students who are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship,
or a similar reason; are living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds due to the lack
of alternative adequate accommodations; are living in emergency or transitional shelters; are
abandoned in hospitals; or are awaiting foster care placement
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth)

2. Students who have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designed for
or ordinarily used as regular sleeping accommodations for human beings

3. Students who are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing,
bus or train stations, or similar settings

4. Migratory children who qualify as homeless because they are living in conditions described in
items #1-3 above

5. Unaccompanied youth who are not in the physical custody of a parent or guardian

School of origin means the school that the student attended when permanently housed or the school in
which the student was last enrolled. (42 USC 11432)

Best interest means, to the extent feasible, continuing a student's enrollment in the school of origin for the
duration of his/her homelessness, except when doing so is contrary to the wishes of his/her
parent/guardian.  (42 USC 11432)

District Liaison

The Superintendent designates the following staff person as the district liaison for homeless students:  (42
USC 11432)

________________________________________________
(title or position)

________________________________________________
(address)

________________________________________________
(phone number)



2

The district's liaison for homeless students shall: (Education Code 48852.5; 42 USC 11432)

1. Ensure that homeless students are identified by school personnel and through coordinated activities
with other entities and agencies

(cf. 1400 - Relations between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools)
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced-Price Meals)
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services)

2. Ensure that homeless students enroll in, and have a full and equal opportunity to succeed in, district
schools

3. Ensure that homeless families and students receive educational services for which they are eligible

4. Inform parents/guardians of the educational and related opportunities available to their children
and ensure that they are provided with meaningful opportunities to participate in the education of
their children

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

5. Disseminate notice of the educational rights of homeless students in district schools that provide
services to homeless children and at places where they receive services, such as schools, family
shelters, and hunger relief agencies (soup kitchens)

6. Mediate enrollment disputes in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation

7. Fully inform parents/guardians of all transportation services

(cf. 3250 - Transportation Fees)
(cf. 3541 - Transportation Routes and Services)

8. When notified pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, assist, facilitate, or represent a homeless
student who is undergoing a disciplinary proceeding that could result in his/her expulsion

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process)

9. When notified pursuant to Education Code 48915.5, participate in an individualized education
program team meeting to make a manifestation determination regarding the behavior of a student
with a disability

(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities))

10. Assist a homeless student to obtain records necessary for his/her enrollment into or transfer out of
district schools, including immunization, medical, and academic records



3

Enrollment

The district shall make placement decisions for homeless students based on the student's best interest.  In
determining a student's best interest, a homeless student shall, to the extent feasible, be placed in his/her
school of origin, unless his/her parent/guardian requests otherwise.  (42 USC 11432)

The student may continue attending his/her school of origin for the duration of the homelessness or, if the
student moves into permanent housing, until the end of any academic year in which he/she moves into
permanent housing.  (42 USC 11432)

In the case of an unaccompanied youth, the liaison shall assist in placement or enrollment decisions,
consider the views of the student, and provide notice to the student of his/her appeal rights.  (42 USC
11432)

When making a placement decision for a homeless student, the Superintendent or designee may consider
the age of the student, the distance of the commute and the impact it may have on the student's education,
personal safety issues, the student's need for special instruction, the length of anticipated stay in the
temporary shelter or other temporary location, likely area of future housing, school placement of siblings,
and the time remaining in the school year.

However, placement decisions shall not be based on whether a homeless student lives with his/her
homeless parent/guardian or has been temporarily placed elsewhere. (42 USC 11432)

Once a placement decision has been made, the principal or designee shall immediately enroll the student
in the school of choice, even if the parent/guardian is unable to provide the school with the records
normally required for enrollment.  (42 USC 11432)

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency)
(cf. 5125 - Student Records)
(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations)

The principal or designee shall immediately contact the school last attended by the student to obtain the
relevant records. If the student needs to obtain immunizations or does not possess immunization or other
medical records, the principal or designee shall refer the parent/guardian to the district liaison for homeless
students.  The district liaison shall assist the parent/guardian, or the student if he/she is an unaccompanied
youth, in obtaining the necessary immunizations or records for the student.  (42 USC 11432)

If the student is placed at a school other than his/her school of origin or the school requested by his/her
parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the parent/guardian with a written
explanation of the decision along with a statement regarding the parent/guardian's right to appeal the
placement decision.  (42 USC 11432)

Resolving Enrollment Disputes

If a dispute arises over school selection or enrollment in a particular school, the student shall be
immediately admitted to the school in which enrollment is sought pending resolution of the dispute.  (42
USC 11432)



4

The parent/guardian shall be provided with a written explanation of the placement decision, which shall
be complete, as brief as possible, simply stated, and provided in language that the parent/guardian or
student can understand.  The written explanation shall include:

1. The district liaison's contact information

2. A description of the district's placement decision

3. Notice of the student's right to enroll in the school of choice pending resolution of the dispute,
including the right to fully participate in all school activities

4. Notice of the parent/guardian's right to appeal the decision to the county office of education and,
if the dispute remains unresolved, to the California Department of Education

The district liaison shall work to resolve an enrollment dispute as expeditiously as possible after receiving
notice of the dispute. (42 USC 11432)

In working with a student's parents/guardians to resolve an enrollment dispute, the district liaison shall:

1. Inform them that they may provide written and/or oral documentation to support their position

2. Inform them that they may seek the assistance of social services, advocates, and/or service
providers in having the dispute resolved

3. Provide them a simple form that they may use and turn in to the school to initiate the dispute
resolution process

4. Provide them a copy of the dispute form they submit for their records

5. Provide them the outcome of the dispute for their records

If a parent/guardian disagrees with the liaison's enrollment decision, he/she may appeal the decision to the
Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a determination within five working days.

If the parent/guardian chooses to appeal the district's placement decision, the district liaison shall forward
all written documentation and related paperwork to the homeless liaison at the county office of education.

Transfer of Coursework and Credits

When a homeless student transfers into a district school, the district shall accept and issue full credit for
any coursework that the student has satisfactorily completed while attending another public school, a
juvenile court school, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency and shall not require the student to
retake the course.  (Education Code 51225.2)

If the homeless student did not complete the entire course, he/she shall be issued partial credit for the
coursework completed and shall be required to take the portion of the course that he/she did not complete



5

at his/her previous school. However, the district may require the student to retake the portion of the course
completed if, in consultation with the holder of educational rights for the student, the district finds that the
student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate from high school. Whenever
partial credit is issued to a homeless student in any particular course, he/she shall be enrolled in the same
or equivalent course, if applicable, so that he/she may continue and complete the entire course.  (Education
Code 51225.2)

In no event shall the district prevent a homeless student from taking or retaking a course to meet the
eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University or the University of California.
(Education Code 51225.2)

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study)

Exemption from District Graduation Requirements

To obtain a high school diploma, a homeless student shall pass the high school exit examination in English
language arts and mathematics, complete all courses required by Education Code 51225.3, and fulfill any
additional graduation requirement prescribed by the Governing Board.

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements)
(cf. 6162.52 - High School Exit Examination)

However, when a homeless student who has completed his/her second year of high school transfers into
the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, he/she shall
be exempted from all district-adopted coursework and other district-established graduation requirements,
unless the district makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the additional
requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of his/her fourth year of high school. Within
30 calendar days of the homeless student's transfer, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student,
the person holding the right to make educational decisions for him/her, and the district liaison for homeless
students of the availability of the exemption and whether the student qualifies for it.  (Education Code
51225.1)

To determine whether a homeless student is in his/her third or fourth year of high school, the district shall
use either the number of credits he/she has earned as of the date of the transfer or the length of his/her
school enrollment, whichever qualifies him/her for the exemption.  (Education Code 51225.1)

The Superintendent or designee shall notify any homeless student who is granted an exemption and the
person holding the right to make educational decisions for him/her how any requirements that are waived
will affect the student's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution and shall
provide information about transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges.
(Education Code 51225.1)

The district shall not require or request a homeless student to transfer schools in order to qualify for an
exemption and no request for a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption shall be made by a homeless
student, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, or by the district liaison
on behalf of the student.  (Education Code 51225.1)



6

If the Superintendent or designee determines that a homeless student is reasonably able to complete district
graduation requirements within his/her fifth year of high school, he/she shall:  (Education Code 51225.1)

1. Inform the student and, if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right to make educational
decisions for him/her, of the option available to the student to remain in school for a fifth year to
complete the district's graduation requirements and how that will affect his/her ability to gain
admission to a postsecondary educational institution

2. Provide information to the homeless student about transfer opportunities available through the
California Community Colleges

3. Upon agreement with the homeless student or, the person holding the right to make educational
decisions for him/her if he/she is under 18 years of age, permit the student to stay in school for a
fifth year to complete the district's graduation requirements

Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities

A homeless student who enrolls in any district school shall be immediately deemed to meet all residency
requirements for participation in interscholastic sports or other extracurricular activities.  (Education Code
48850)

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities)
(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition)

Regulation SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
Approved: April 10, 2007 Sierraville, California
Revised:    April 14, 2015 Loyalton, California


	01_04_14_2015_SCOE_AGENDA.pdf
	02_SCOE Mar2015 ObjSumm.pdf
	03_3_10_15_SCOE Minutes.pdf
	04_SCOE Mar2015 Checks.pdf
	05_2014_School_Accountability_Report_Card_K-12_SCOE_20150318.pdf
	06_4_14_15_Policies.pdf

